#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,	
Complainant,	
v.	Case No.: SC05-947
	[TFB Nos.: 2004-31,700(05B)
	2004-
32,067(05B)	
MARK F. GERMAIN,	
Respondent.	Case No.: SC05-1096
-	[TFB Nos.: 2004-31,218(05B)
/	

#### RESPONDENT'S AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF

Respectfully submitted by:

#### MARK F. GERMAIN

Attorney at Law 2305 Hutchinson Avenue Leesburg, Florida 34748 (352) 787-8833

Florida Bar No.: 051039

This \_\_\_\_ day of August, 2006

####

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

**Case No.: SC05-947** 

Respondent was the victim of violence, (three separate batteries), perpetrated by convicted felon / attorney Michael C. Norvell. These attacks took place in July 2002 and in March and April of 2004. Final Report at page 15.

Respondent and NORVELL were co-owners and shared offices in a building known as the Lake Law Center. Stipulation as to Facts at paragraphs 4 and 6 at Appendix "A."

NORVELL wanted to buy out the Respondent's interest in the Lake Law Center. Final Report at page 15 and Stip. at para. 38. Respondent renovated the building and property, investing hundreds of hours and thousands of dollars doing the electrical, carpentry, masonry, insulation, painting, curbing, parking lot resurfacing, and landscaping necessary to create Class "A" office space. Tr. at page 19, line 11 to page 20, line 13. The Lake Law Center was worth between \$600,000 and \$700,000 after the renovations. Tr. at page 276.

Respondent did not want to sell his interest in the Lake Law Center or buy NORVELL's interest. NORVELL was only offering Respondent what he paid for his interest, ie.: \$100,000. Later, NORVELL offered \$140,000. Respondent still did not want to sell. NORVELL then escalated the violence, assaulting and battering the Respondent with a weapon.

NORVELL is not unknown to the Supreme Court of Florida. He is a convicted felon who was sentenced to five (5) years in Federal prison for drug offenses. Moreover, NORVELL has been suspended from the practice of law twice for unethical conduct; once for nearly a decade and on another occasion for almost a year. See Stip. as to Facts at para. 9. On June 23, 2005, the Florida Supreme Court approved a guilty plea and consent judgment against NORVELL for "offensive personality" for the violent attacks on the Respondent and calling

the Respondent a "Chihuahua" in the local press.

The Referee's findings that NORVELL battered the Respondent three times is based on the following undisputed record evidence: The first time, NORVELL entered Respondent's office and suddenly began punching Respondent in the head, face and neck. At the hearing, NORVELL testified that he doesn't remember how many times he punched the Respondent. Tr. of Hearing on October 28, 2005, at page 170. NORVELL weighs 260 pounds. Respondent weighs only 158. Tr. at page 27. The second time, NORVELL entered Respondent's office, suddenly grabbed Respondent's tie and pulled Respondent across the corner of his desk. The tie was so tight around Respondent's neck that he had to cut it off with a scissor. Tr. at page 26, 27. (A picture of the tie is entered in evidence.) The third time NORVELL attacked Respondent, he pushed him down into an aircraft maintenance ladder in the warehouse area of the Lake Law Center injuring Respondent's left arm. Tr. at page 27. Leesburg Police Officer Gabriel White wrote in his report that he "saw the large contusion on Mr. Germain's arm along with several slight abrasions." Stip. at para. 11. NORVELL then attacked Respondent with a four foot wooden mop handle while yelling, "I'm going to bash your head in." At one point, NORVELL actually brought the stick up across Respondent's throat as he tried to push Respondent into a wall. Tr. at page 27, 28.

Judge Pope found that "Norvell had assaulted Germain" and that Germain "had been battered previously by Mr. Norvell." Stip. at para. 38.

NORVELL, a convicted felon, admitted to having a gun in his office.

Tr. at page 184, 185, 186 and 192.

On March 17, 2004, Respondent fired James Cardona, a Colombian and paralegal seeking admission to the Florida Bar. Stip. at para. 13 and 14. For approximately 16 years, CARDONA had outstanding warrants for his arrest in Alabama for failing to appear in court after being criminally cited for Driving Under the Influence in 1986. Despite the warrants for his arrest, CARDONA fled Alabama and took up residence in Florida. CARDONA was arrested for a third Driving Under the Influence with property damage / personal injury. Stip. at paras. 13 and 15. CARDONA had continuing legal problems in Alabama and engaged in misconduct during the very short time that he worked for Respondent.

On April 17, 2004, Respondent filed a report with the Leesburg Police Department indicating that NORVELL had physically attacked him. Leesburg Police Officer Gabriel White stated in his reports that he saw the Respondent's injuries. Stip. at paragraphs 10 and 11.

On April 19, 2004, NORVELL "hired" CARDONA and entered into Respondent's office, removing Respondent's files from the office. NORVELL

wanted Respondent to sell him the furniture in that office. NORVELL sat in Respondent's chair behind Respondent's desk in front of Respondent's computer. Stip. at para. 12. CARDONA reported to work at the Lake Law Center and entered into the office because he had been "hired" by NORVELL. An argument ensued between Respondent and CARDONA. The Respondent physically escorted CARDONA off the property. Stip. at para. 16.

On April 20, 2004, Respondent delivered a "NO TRESPASS WARNING" to CARDONA's residence. CARDONA ignored the warning since he had been "hired" by NORVELL. Stip. at para. 17.

On April 21, 2004, Respondent filed Petitions for Injunction for Protection against NORVELL and CARDONA. That same day CARDONA filed a Petition for Injunction for Protection against Respondent. All three Petitions for Injunction (Germain v. Norvell, Germain v. Cardona and Cardona v. Germain) were **consolidated** for hearing and set before Judge Willard Ira Pope. The hearing was originally set for May 3, 2004, however, it was postponed until June 23, 2004.

The Petition for Injunction for Protection against NORVELL alleged the three violent attacks and that NORVELL had a "hand gun with ammunition in our office." Stip. at para. 20 and the Bar's Composite "A."

The Petition for Injunction for Protection against CARDONA alleged

that CARDONA was stalking Respondent, among other things. Stip. at para. 22 and the Bar's Composite "E.".

On June 18, 2004, pursuant to a Stipulation and Agreement to settle all matters between Respondent and NORVELL, Respondent executed a sworn affidavit wherein he stated that "after some thought," he recalled that the pistol was actually in possession of NORVELL's paralegal and that the paralegal had the small hand gun at her desk for protection. Stip. at paragraphs 29 and 30.

Despite being a convicted felon prohibited from owning or possessing a firearm, NORVELL confessed under oath that he gave his paralegal permission to bring the gun into his office, that he saw the gun, that he knew where it was kept, that it was not under lock and key and that he had the ability to reduce the gun to his actual possession. See Tr. at page 184, 185, 186 and 192.

On June 21, 2004, CARDONA, through an attorney, filed an Amended Motion to Dismiss the Petition for Injunction for Protection against him and filed an Amended Motion for Sanctions seeking \$30,390 in attorney's fees. Stip. at para. 31.

At the hearing on June 23, 2004, Judge Pope did not let the Respondent present witnesses or evidence and did not let the Respondent testify. Judge Pope declined to enter an Injunction for Protection against CARDONA. Judge Pope

reserved ruling on CARDONA's motion for attorney's fees. Stip. at paragraphs 32, 33, 34 and 35, and Bar's Exhibit "G."

While CARDONA worked for Respondent, Judge Pope's campaign

Host Committeeman, attorney Lennon E. BOWEN assisted CARDONA and
accompanied CARDONA to a hearing before the Florida Board of Bar Examiners
that was inquiring about CARDONA's past criminal records in Alabama and
Florida. Stip. at paragraphs 40 and 42.

On July 2, 2004, while Judge Pope was considering the Respondent's Petition for Injunction for Protection and CARDONA's motion for \$30,390 in attorney fees from Respondent, campaign material approved by Judge Pope was sent to Respondent soliciting a campaign contribution. Stip. at para. 41. Respondent was invited to a "Funraiser" for Judge Pope on July 13, 2004. Because of the appearance of impropriety, Respondent did not attend.

The next day, on July 14, 2004, shortly before the election in August, in an Amended Order, Judge Pope granted CARDONA's motion for attorney fees, based upon the provisions of Fla. Stat. 57.105. Stip. at para. 37.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In case no.: SC05-947, the Respondent was a victim of violence and stalking perpetrated by a convicted felon, NORVELL, and a fugitive from justice, CARDONA. An injunction for protection was issued against NORVELL but not CARDONA.

It is a violation of the Petitioner's constitutional and statutory right of due process to dismiss a Petition for Injunction for Protection against Repeat Violence without an evidentiary hearing. **Segui v. Nester**, 745 So.2d 591 (5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1999).

The Referee did not acknowledge that according to the statute, "'violence' means any assault, aggravated assault, battery, aggravated battery, sexual assault, sexual battery, *stalking*, aggravated *stalking*..." F.S. 784.046(1)(a) and that "'repeat violence' means two incidents of violence or '*stalking*'..." F.S. 784.046(1)(b). The Referee did not recognize that *stalking* constitutes grounds for the issuance of an Injunction for Protection Against Repeat Violence.

Moreover, the statute does not require that the Petitioner be represented by an attorney and the statute does not permit an award of attorney fees to the Respondent of the Petition for Injunction for Protection if the Petition is dismissed.

Lewis v. Lewis, 689 So.2d 1271 (1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1997). In the instant case, Judge Pope

awarded attorney fees to the respondent of the Petition for Injunction knowing the respondent, CARDONA, was asking for \$30,390 in attorney's fees. Awarding attorney fees to respondents will have a chilling effect on victims of violence who seek protection from the Court. Filing a Petition for Injunction for Protection that fails to state a cause of action in *not* a sanctionable act.

Attorney NORVELL's possession of the gun in the office was constructive possession, if not actual possession. Florida law is clear that a convicted felon's possession of a firearm may be either actual or constructive.

The only relevant and material factual statement of any import in the Respondent's three statements is that NORVELL had a gun in the office and Respondent proved that at the hearing. NORVELL confessed to having a gun in the office. Therefore, the Respondent did not make a false statement under oath.

Considering that NORVELL is a convicted felon, that he had a gun in the office, that he assaulted and battered the Respondent on three separate occasions and that he threatened to kill the Respondent three times, it was reasonable for the Respondent to be in fear of his life or bodily harm.

The Respondent did not make disparaging remarks against NORVELL and CARDONA because felons and fugitives are not a protected class and their criminal records are relevant when a victim is seeking protection from them in the

Court. People are naturally afraid of felons and fugitives because they have demonstrated a propensity to violate the law.

The Respondent did not make disparaging remarks against Judge Pope because the statute *requires* that the affidavit attached to the motion "shall state the facts and the reasons for the belief that such bias or prejudice exists..." Fla. Stat. 38.10.

The recommendation of a 91 day suspension is not justified nor consistent with previous disciplinary cases. The instant case is distinguishable because the Respondent was the victim of violence.

It was improper for the referee to consider in aggravation the fact that the Respondent refused to acknowledge the wrongful nature of his conduct. The Respondent's claim of innocence cannot be used against him. **Florida Bar v. Corbin**, 701 So.2d 334 (1997).

The Bar did not give proper written notice to the Respondent that the Respondent's mental health was at issue or that it would be seeking a mental health evaluation and the Respondent was not given an opportunity to present evidence at the sanctions hearing to refute that recommendation by the Referee. The facts of the case were not such that the Respondent would be on notice that mental health was an issue.

In case no.: SC05-1096, the Respondent did not intentionally disrupt a tribunal because there was no finding in Judge Hill's Order that Respondent's conduct was a willful act *calculated* to hinder the orderly functions of the court and Judge Hill *did* enter an Order of Dismissal upon reconsideration. **Stevens v. State**, 547 So.2d 279 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1989). The Respondent was merely trying to protect his client's rights. When Respondent did interject, he did so professionally and respectfully saying, "Your Honor, before we start if I may?" and "Your Honor, if I may say..." Finally, unintentionally interrupting the Judge is *not* a sanctionable act.

In mitigation the Referee did not consider that the Respondent paid \$15,000 to CARDONA to settle the matter of Judge Pope's award of attorney fees nor the immediate letters of apology to Judge Hill for interrupting the court. The referee did not give sufficient weight to the mitigating factors that were cited in the Final Report, especially *absence of a dishonest or self motive* and the *personal or emotional problems* experienced by the Respondent as the result of being the victim of violence.

#### **ARGUMENT**

1. The Protective Injunction against Repeat Violence statute at F.S. 784.046(5) states that, "Upon the filing of the petition, the court shall set a hearing to be held at the earliest possible time." The "hearing" required in the statute has been interpreted by the courts to mean an evidentiary hearing.

In **Segui v. Nester**, 745 So.2d 591 (5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1999), Segui appealed the dismissal of her Petition for Injunction. The Fifth DCA reversed "because the trial court dismissed the petition without providing an evidentiary hearing." In **Brand v. J. Elliott**, 610 So.2d 37 (5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1992), the trial court erred by failing to afford the parties a full hearing as required by statute providing for protective injunction. In **Utley v. Baez-Camacho**, 743 So.2d 613 (5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1999), the Fifth DCA reversed a Final Judgment of Injunction for Protection Against Repeat Violence because Appellant was denied a due process hearing on the merits.

"The witnesses should be sworn, each party should be permitted to call witnesses with relevant information, and cross-examination should be permitted. The court cannot determine whether the "fear is reasonable" unless it first determines the facts. Unless the facts are stipulated to, they must be determined the old fashioned way. They were not in this case. REVERSED." Utley v. Baez-Camacho, 743 So.2d 613 (5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1999).

The Order setting the Petitions for a hearing signed by the Honorable Mark

J. Hill on April 21, 2004, specifically stated that the "Petitioner and the

Respondent are ordered to appear and testify at the hearing on the Petition for

Injunction for Protection against Domestic, Repeat or Dating Violence..." The

Order went on to say that "Petitioner may amend or supplement the Petition at any
time to state further reasons why a *Temporary* Injunction should be ordered which
would be in effect until the hearing scheduled below." Therefore, the Respondent,
as the Petitioner in the Injunction case, was only required to amend the Petition if
he sought a *Temporary* Injunction against CARDONA until the hearing. See first
page of Exhibit B of Respondent's Motion to Dismiss.

Finally, our society and system of justice makes a distinction between a "plaintiff" seeking monetary damages and a "petitioner" seeking protection from the Courts. The Injunction statute at F.S. 784.046 does not require that a petitioner be represented by an attorney, it does not allow attorney fees to the respondent if the Petition is denied or dismissed and it requires a full evidentiary hearing "at the earliest possible time."

A Petition for Injunction for Protection Against Repeat Violence is NOT susceptible to a Motion to Dismiss. **THE PETITIONER HAS THE RIGHT TO A FULL EVIDENTIARY HEARING** *before* the petition can be denied. To

dismiss without an evidentiary hearing, as in this case, is a violation of the Petitioner's constitutional and statutory right of due process.

2. The Petition was not frivolous. According to the comments at rule 4-3.1, meritorious claims and contentions,

"The filing of an action or defense or similar action taken for a client is not frivolous merely because the facts have not first been fully substantiated or because the lawyer expects to develop vital evidence only by discovery. Such action is not frivolous even though the lawyer believes that the client's position ultimately will not prevail. The action is frivolous, however, if the client desires to have the action taken primarily for the purpose of harassing or maliciously injuring a person or if the lawyer is unable either to make a good faith argument on the merits of the action taken or to support the action taken by a good faith argument for an extension, modification, or reversal of existing law."

The Referee did not find that the Respondent filed the Petition primarily for the purpose of harassing or maliciously injuring a person or that Respondent was unable to make a good faith argument on the merits.

Moreover, the Referee did not acknowledge that according to the statute, "'violence' means any assault, aggravated assault, battery, aggravated battery, sexual assault, sexual battery, *stalking*, aggravated *stalking*..."

F.S. 784.046(1)(a) and that "'repeat violence' means two incidents of violence or '*stalking*'..." F.S. 784.046(1)(b). The Referee did not recognize that

stalking constitutes grounds for the issuance of an Injunction for Protection Against Repeat Violence.

The Petition against CARDONA laid out in paragraphs 4 and 5 facts which constituted stalking. For instance, Respondent stated that CARDONA was "sneaking into my office at night and early morning, pilfering office resources and engaging in the unauthorized practice of law from my facility," "He downloaded my files for his own use. He improperly used my computer and printer for his own profit," "when I asked him to leave he became belligerent...," "I asked him not to return," "I found him (CARDONA) in his old office tampering with my computer and attorney files," "CARDONA vows to return and enter into my building despite several subsequent conversations and a NO TRESPASS WARNING which he received and ignored," and "CARDONA is stalking me and is trying to sabotage my law practice." Stip. at para. 22 and the Bar's Composite "E.".

None of these acts had any legitimate purpose and caused Respondent substantial emotional distress. CARDONA engaged in a course of conduct which the Respondent considered "Stalking" pursuant to the definitions at Florida Statutes 784.046(1) and 784.048(1). CARDONA was an ex-employee who refused to stay away, trespassed into Respondent's office and tampered with Respondent's computer and attorney files.

According to <u>Stalking the Problems with Stalking Laws: The</u>

<u>Effectiveness of Florida Statute Section 784.048</u>, 45 FLLR 609 at 614 (Sept. 1993),

"One study has shown that 38% of stalking victims are ordinary citizens, 13% are *former employers* or other professionals..."

The stalking statute was intended to fill gaps in the law by criminalizing contact that fell short of assault and battery. **Curry v. State**, 811 So.2d 736 (4<sup>th</sup>

DCA 2002).

Moreover, Judge Pope testified that he was not aware that chest bumping, such as CARDONA did to the Respondent, is considered an "incident" of violence pursuant to **Darrow v. Moschella,** 805 So.2d 1068 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2002). Tr. at p. 138, line 23 - p.140, line 8.

Respondent sought relief that was offered by the Legislature to protect victims from stalking. The Petition stated a cause of action for an Injunction and at the very least, entitled Respondent to the evidentiary hearing required by the statute at 784.046(5).

The statute does not require that the Petitioner be represented by an attorney and the statute does not permit an award of attorney fees to the respondent of the Petition for Injunction for Protection.

In **Lewis v. Lewis**, 689 So.2d 1271 (1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1997), the appellate court denied the request for attorney fees because there was no statutory authorization to grant such fees as part of a proceeding brought pursuant to the domestic violence Injunction statute at Florida Statute 741.30.

In **Baumgartner v. Baumgartner**, 693 So.2d 84 (5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1997), our District Court of Appeals held that,

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