IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

MARK F. GERMAIN,

Respondent.

Case No. SC05-947 [TFB Nos. 2004-31,700(05B); and 2004-32,067(05B)]

Case No. SC05-1096 [TFB No. 2005-31,218(05B)]

THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850)561-5600 Attorney No. 123390

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850)561-5600 Attorney No. 253847

AND

JOANN MARIE STALCUP Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 1200 Edgewater Drive Orlando, Florida 32804-6314 (407)425-5424 Attorney No. 972932

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

Respondent also has not conformed to the profession's standard of filing pleadings supportable in law and in fact. While the respondent stipulated that the court had found his Petition for Injunction for Protection Against Repeat Violence against Mr. Cardona to be ". . . so clearly devoid of merit both on the fact and the law as to be completely untenable," and that ". . . Mr. Germain knew, or reasonably should have known, that his petition against Mr. Cardona was not supported by the material facts necessary to establish a claim for an injunction for protection against repeat violence, or that it would not be support by the application of the current law to those material facts" and that "[a] claim under s. 57.105 was filed on June 3, 2004. Cardona's motion for sanctions upon the provisions of Fla. Stat. s.57.105 is GRANTED" (B-Ex. 1, 12). Respondent, however, did not stipulate that the pleading he filed was frivolous.

Respondent has argued that he should be treated like any other petitioner seeking protection against repeat violence. But, he is not like any other petitioner seeking protection against repeat violence. He is a trained, skilled attorney. Nevertheless, respondent has tried, at least in this instance, to divorce himself from his profession and the higher standards expected of officers of the court. Such disregard for the higher standards expected of an attorney should not and cannot be tolerated.

Respondent had been a practicing attorney for approximately 9 years when he filed the Petition for Injunction for Protection Against Repeat Violence against Mr. Cardona. Notwithstanding that fact, respondent deliberately filed a petition that failed to allege any acts of violence as defined by the law. He stated that:

"... I had to fire [Cardona] and when I asked him to leave the office he became belligent (sic) and initially refused. It **appeared** from his demeanor that he was **about** to become violent. (Emphasis added.) He did finally leave and I asked him <u>not</u> to return." (Emphasis in the original.)

"... I had to physically remove him from the premises. Cardona vows to return and enter into my building dispite (sic) several subsequent conversations and a No Trespass Warning which he received and ignored."

"Cardona shows no respect for private property and has indicated that he intends to re-enter my building and office with force, if necessary. I cannot afford to jeopardize my law practice by physically having to remove him from the premises each time he decides to show up. He claims my office is a public place

"I believe there will be imminent physical violence the next time Cardona shows up at the Lake Law Center. I also believe that I may be gravely hurt when he does show up. Cardona is stalking me and is trying to sabotage my law practice." (Bar-Ex. 8)

As Judge Pope found, none of the cited sworn allegations show that Mr.

Cardona directed at least two incidents of violence against respondent and that one of the acts had occurred within 6 months of the filing of the petition. The moment respondent filed the petition, he filed a frivolous pleading. As the sworn statements reflect and as found by Judge Pope, respondent was merely speculating that future violence might occur.

Further, the testimony established that respondent did not fear Mr. Cardona. Respondent had reached an agreement to rehire Mr. Cardona and had spoken with Mr. Cardona about working out their issues (TR-I p. 112 l. 14-19; TR-I p. 200 l. 1-5). The evidence also established that Mr. Cardona did not wish to be reemployed by the respondent (TR-I p. 200 l. 6). Immediately after that fact became known to the respondent, the evidence shows that respondent filed a Petition for Injunction for Protection Against Repeat Violence against Mr. Cardona (TR-I p. 202 l. 8-11; B-Ex. 8). The evidence supports a finding that respondent was unhappy that Mr. Cardona had been hired by Mr. Norvell and because Mr. Cardona refused to come back to work for him (T-I p. 110 l. 1-10). A failed business dealing is not a proper purpose for filing a Petition for Injunction for Protection Against Repeat Violence.

More importantly, it is clear, based on the testimony of Judge Pope and the transcript of the Excerpt of Proceedings conducted before Judge Pope on June 23, 2004 wherein the respondent testified, (B-Ex. 15), and the Amended Order issued by Judge Pope on July 14, 2004 (B-Ex. 12), that respondent was provided with ample opportunity to prove that the filing of the petition was not frivolous. During the proceeding before Judge Pope, despite being repeatedly questioned, respondent was unable to substantiate any acts of violence, as defined by the law, that were perpetrated upon him by Mr. Cardona.

Based upon the foregoing, the evidence presented to the referee during the final hearing and to Judge Pope on June 23, 2004 clearly and convincingly established a finding that respondent brought a frivolous proceeding before the court when he filed the Petition for Injunction for Protection Against Repeat Violence as it related to Mr. Cardona on April 21, 2004.

Not only has respondent made material misrepresentations to the court and filed a frivolous proceeding, he misled the Leesburg Police Department to believe that Mr. Cardona had been issued a valid No Trespass Warning by the court which was served upon him by a deputy. The evidence clearly established that respondent generated the "No Trespass Warning" on his own letterhead and that he served it upon Mr. Cardona's mother as well as posting it at several locations in the building located at 1410 Emerson Street, Leesburg, Florida (TR-I p. 113 l. 9-18; TR-I p. 201 l. 5-23). Based upon Officer Potter's report, (B-Ex. 9, 10), and Mr. Cardona's testimony during the final hearing, a trespass warning had not actually been issued by the court and served on him by law enforcement (TR-I p. 201 l. 5-23). Mr. Cardona testified that no deputy instructed him not to return to the building located at 1410 Emerson Street, Leesburg, Florida or the ramifications if a violation of the warning occurred (TR-I p. 202 l. 20-24).

Respondent's overall conduct in this matter displays his lack of respect for the law, the court, and the public. Respondent filed whatever pleading he deemed necessary and said whatever he deemed necessary to achieve the objective he wanted to achieve – no matter the cost. Such conduct fails to comport with the high ethical conduct expected of attorneys practicing in Florida.

Case No. SC05-1096

In Case No. SC05-1096, respondent and the Bar stipulated to all of the allegations contained in the Bar's complaint except for paragraphs 5 and 6 wherein the Bar alleged that "[d]uring the course of the proceeding, respondent repeatedly interrupted the Court," and "[a]fter the Court warned the respondent not to interrupt, respondent

interrupted the Court on two further occasions."

Judge Hill testified about the circumstances surrounding the hearing in <u>State v.</u> <u>Guerreo</u>, Case No. 04 CF 2140A-02, during which Judge Hill determined that respondent should be held in direct criminal contempt. Judge Hill testified (TR-I p. 65-69), and the transcript and Order of Judgment issued by Judge Hill on October 24, 2004, (B-Ex. 2, 3), clearly and convincingly established that respondent was warned not to interrupt the court and that he knowingly and intentionally interrupted the court on two separate occasions after being warned. Furthermore, respondent admitted to the conduct (B-Ex. 1). Finally, and most importantly, the court found no valid reason for respondent's conduct.

The evidence established that Judge Hill issued an Order of Dismissal of Criminal Contempt on March 10, 2005, some six months after the finding of contempt and some five months after the Order of Judgment was issued (B-Ex. 4). That does not, however, negate the fact that the court found the respondent to be in direct criminal contempt due to his conduct on September 22, 2004 (TR-I p. 65-69); B-Ex. 3). Judge Hill's explanation regarding the issuance of the order of dismissal did not reflect that the Judge believed he had made an error in finding the respondent in direct criminal contempt (TR-I p. 68 l. 20-25; TR-I p. 69 l. 1-2). Likewise, his explanation did not reflect that he believed he had made an error in his determination that the respondent had violated the court's order (TR-I p. 65-69). Rather, the court simply ". . . decline[ed] to hold [the respondent] in direct criminal contempt" (B-Ex. 4). Consequently, the subsequent order issued by Judge Hill does not eliminate the findings contained the initial order, and the subsequent order does not establish a finding by Judge Hill that the respondent lacked intent or knowledge.

The evidence presented clearly and convincingly established that respondent engaged in conduct intended to disrupt the tribunal. As evidenced by the transcript and Judge Hill's testimony during the final hearing, Judge Hill made it clear to respondent that he expected an orderly proceeding to be conducted in his courtroom on September 22, 2004. It is also clear Judge Hill provided respondent with warnings regarding respondent's failure to comply with the requirements clearly established by Judge Hill. Nevertheless, respondent chose, on two separate occasions, to violate the court's order and disrupt the court, causing Judge Hill to conduct a contempt proceeding. Respondent failed to present any competent, substantial evidence to support a determination that he did not intend to disrupt the proceedings to get his point across to the Judge.

Finally, the testimony and evidence submitted clearly and convincingly established that respondent engaged in conduct in connection with the practice of law that was prejudicial to the administration of justice. Respondent, in his role as attorney for Mr. Guerreo, after being warned twice not to interrupt, continued to knowingly and deliberately interrupt the judge in the matter of <u>State v. Guerreo</u>, Case No. 2004 CF 2140A-02. There can be no question that respondent's conduct undermined the authority of the court and required Judge Hill to take immediate action.

As a result of the substantial, competent record evidence presented in Case Nos. SC05-947 and SC05-1096, the referee properly recommended that respondent be found guilty of the following Rules Regulating The Florida Bar: Oath of Admission to The Florida Bar for failing to abstain from all offensive personality; 4-3.1 for bringing a frivolous proceeding, or asserting or controverting a frivolous issue therein; 4-3.3(a)(1) for knowingly making a false statement of material fact or law to a tribunal; 4-3.4(c) for knowingly disobeying an obligation under the rules of a tribunal; 4-3.5(c) for engaging in conduct intended to disrupt a tribunal; and 4-8.4(d) for engaging in conduct in connection with the practice of law that is prejudicial to the administration of justice.

As set forth above and in detail in the report of referee, the record contains substantial, competent evidence that clearly and convincingly supports the referee's findings of facts and recommendations of guilt. The referee was in the best position to review the evidence and assess the credibility of the witnesses who testified. Therefore, consistent with its prior holdings, this Court should not reweigh the evidence or substitute its judgment for that of the referee, but should approve the referee's findings of fact and recommendations of guilt.

POINT II

THE REFEREE APPROPRIATELY CONCLUDED THAT RESPONDENT VIOLATED RULE 4-8.4(d) IN REGARD TO PROVIDING MISLEADING INFORMATION TO THE LEESBURG POLICE DEPARTMENT.

In his Initial Brief, respondent claims that the referee erred in finding him guilty of Rule 4-8.4(d) in relation to his conduct with the Leesburg Police Department. Respondent claims that this was not an allegation made by the Bar in its complaint and that the referee cannot find respondent guilty of a rule that was not alleged by the Bar. Despite respondent's statements to the contrary, paragraph 23 of the Bar's complaint clearly states that pursuant to his alleged misconduct respondent is accused of violating Rule 4-8.4(d). This Court has held that "[a]ttorneys must be given reasonable notice of the charges they face before the referee's hearings on those charges." <u>The Florida</u> <u>Bar v. Batista</u>, 846 So.2d 479, 484 (Fla. 2003).

Furthermore, the referee only recommended that respondent be found guilty of Rule 4-8.4(d) after carefully considering all of the relevant evidence presented in this matter. For example, the referee considered the following excerpt from Officer Potter's report dated April 22, 2004:

> Mr. Germain stated that he had recently fired an employee, James E. Cardona, for stealing from him and downloading unauthorized files from his computer. Mr. Germain stated that he issued a trespass warning to Mr. Cardona through the court house and that the Sheriff's office had served Mr. Cardona with the warning. Mr. Germain stated that Mr. Cardona has entered the business at least two times since the trespass warning

was issued (B-Ex. 10).

Based on the foregoing, the Bar's complaint alleged that "respondent falsely informed the Leesburg Police Department that he had issued a trespass warning to Mr. Cardona through the courthouse and that the sheriff's office had served Mr. Cardona with the warning." After reviewing the evidence, the referee determined that he could not find that respondent intentionally misrepresented facts to Officer Potter by use of the terms "through the courthouse" and "the Sheriff's office had served Mr. Cardona with the warning" (ROR-A-12-A-13). The referee, however, did find that respondent's communications to Officer Potter had the obvious effect of advising the officer that Mr. Cardona had been lawfully warned and, therefore, could be arrested for trespassing onto the Lake Law Center property as stated in the April 20, 2004 warning letter (ROR-A-13). The referee determined that respondent failed to clarify that Mr. Cardona had the permission from the 2/3 owner of the Lake Law Center Property, Michael Norvell, to enter onto the property (B-Ex. 10; ROR-A-13). Consequently, the referee determined that by such omission, respondent violated Rule 4-8.4(d). Respondent has not presented any evidence to indicate that this was a new rule violation that was considered without adequate notice.

POINT III

THE REFEREE APPROPRIATELY EXERCISED HIS DISCRETION TO EXCLUDE EVIDENCE CONCERNING RESPONDENT'S ALLEGATIONS THAT MR. NORVELL EXPLOITED HIS ELDERLY CLIENT, VIRGINIA

MARCHEGIANI.

In his Initial Brief, respondent argues that the referee erred in refusing to admit respondent's evidence that Mr. Norvell exploited an elderly client, participated in her removal from life support, and acquired her estate. The referee in this matter properly utilized his discretion to determine that this evidence was irrelevant to the rule allegations filed against respondent, as well as to the disciplinary case in general. In his report, the referee stated that "after having been told that evidence of Norvell's alleged killing of a client was irrelevant and inadmissible at the hearing, Respondent continued to argue that subject matter in his closing argument" (ROR-A-23).

Even if the referee erred in excluding testimony concerning Mr. Norvell's dealings with Ms. Marchegiani, the record evidence is unequivocal. After thorough review and consideration of the final hearing transcript, the exhibits, the stipulated facts, respondent's unsworn communications on the merits, and written closing arguments, the referee found that no reasonable person would have feared that Mr. Norvell would kill, and that no reasonable person would have had a fear that would justify giving a false statement under oath (ROR-A-14-A-15).

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Clement</u>, 662 So.2d 690 (Fla. 1995), the Court held that the referee's exclusion of an attorney's wife's opinion about the attorney's sanity was harmless error. Although the testimony would have been relevant, the referee in <u>Clement</u> heard testimony that Clement's emotional state was not severe enough to warrant involuntary hospitalization and that Clement was able to practice law. The referee further admitted a psychiatrist's notes and records and heard Janet Clement's lengthy testimony about her husband's behavior. The Court determined that "the referee thus had adequate evidence before him to determine Clement's competency." <u>Id</u>. at 697. The referee in this matter also had adequate evidence before him to determine that respondent did not have a reasonable fear that Mr. Norvell would kill him.

POINT IV

THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE OF A 91-DAY SUSPENSION IS APPROPRIATE GIVEN THE FACTS, CASE LAW, AND STANDARDS FOR IMPOSING LAWYER SANCTIONS.

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